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Via email and post

Ms R. Knight
Assistant Coroner
The Coroner's Office
The Old Courthouse
Courthouse Street
Pontypridd

CF37 1JwW

Dear Ms Knight

Regulation 28: Report to Prevent Future Deaths
Inquest into the Death of Matthew James Rouch — 24" October 2022

Thank you for your letter of 24" October 2022 and the copy of the Regulation 28 report,
which followed a Coroner's investigation into the death of Matthew James Rouch, which
concluded on 18™ October 2022. | would firstly advise that the Council’s thoughts are very
much with Mr Rouch’s family as they continue to come to terms with this tragic accident.

| note that within the Regulation 28 report it states that during the inquest, evidence
revealed matters giving rise to concern in relation to the A48 ‘Forage roundabout junction’
near Cowbridge. Although the Regulation 28 report indicates the Assistant Coroner’s
opinion that the 'Forage roundabout junction ‘seems dangerous and unless changes are
made to slow down drivers approaching it from every direction, more deaths may occur’,
however, there is no mention of the evidence considered during the inquest which
supports this position.

The Vale of Glamorgan Council has investigated the concerns raised in the Regulation 28
report relating to the safety of the ‘Forage roundabout junction’ and considered the opinion
expressed by the Assistant Coroner and would offer the response below.

The roundabout design conforms to the design guidance provided in the Design Manual
for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) published by Highways England and endorsed by Welsh
Government. The DMRB includes all current standards, advice notes and other
documents relating to the design, assessment, and operation of trunk roads, including
motorways and whilst not mandatory, is adopted as a best practice guide, as appropriate,
for the design of main roads within the Vale of Glamorgan Council's local highway
network.

The advanced directional signage on approach to the roundabout in all directions fully
complies with the Traffic Road Signs and General Directions (TRSGD) 2016 as well as
the appropriate Chapter of the Traffic Signs Manual. This signage is considered to provide
excellent advanced warning of the approaching roundabout in all directions.
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The scheme design and construction has been the subject of a full Road Safety Audit
(RSA) process, carried out by an independent specialist consultant approved by the
Council in accordance with DMRB document GG119 'Road safety audit’ (formerly HD
19/15). This process includes RSA's at completion of detall design stage (RSA Stage 2);
completion of construction {(RSA Stage 3); and post opening monitoring (RSA Stage 4a) —
copies attached for information. The Stage 3 and 4a RSA comprised both a daytime and
night-time site survey which was conducted by the independent Audit team and attended
by the South Wales Police Roads Safety team and a qualified and experienced traffic

engineer representing the Highways and Engineering team from the Vale of Glamorgan
Council.

The Stage 3 RSA’s dated 10" January 2020 identified a number of minor issues in relation
to surface water, carriageway surfacing, vehicle and pedestrian restraint barriers, drop
kerb crossings and lack of signage associated with the shared cycleway / footway and
drainage lagoon, which have subsequently been the subject of remedial works. The Stage
3 RSA also raised more specific concern in relation to the roundabout as identified below:

¢ The chevron warning signs being too small (problem 2.3.4); these have
subsequently been replaced with enlarged signs incorporating a yellow border to
further enhance signage on the roundabout.

s The road signs (flag type directional signs on splitter-island} are un-lit {problem
2.3.5); the legisiation {TSRGD) does not require these signs to be illuminated.

s The lack of 50mph speed signs (problem 2.3.6); these signs were subsequently
installed prior to removing temporary traffic management.

e The lack of advanced warning signs (problem 2.3.7); the presence of large
Advanced Directional Signs (ADS) identifying the approaching roundabout and
traffic routes is considered to provide sufficient and adequate advanced warning to
approaching traffic.

The Stage 4a RSA dated 31%" August 2021, which involved a desk top study and a further
daytime and night-time site visit, identified only two safety issues as recorded below:

s Existing warning sign obstructs the lower half of the eastbound ADS (problem 2.1.1);
the offending sign was relocated to avoid the obstruction.

¢ Lack of lane designation signs could lead to drivers undertaking sudden lane
changing (problem 2.1.2); additional arrow markings added on westbound approach,
however, insufficient length of approach lanes to add additional markings
eastbound.

The Council has also liaised with the South Wales Police (SWP) regarding the
investigation into the collision and has been provided with a copy of the ‘Feedback form to
Police / Welsh Government: Fatal traffic Collision’ dated 30th September 2021, which it is
presumed would have been fully considered as significant evidence during the inquest
and Assistant Coroner's considerations. The Feedback form specifically did not identify
any highways implications or contributing factors associated with the fatal collision which
occurred on 29" September 2021,

Based on the above information, the Vale Council considers that a robust and appropriate
process has been followed regarding the design and construction of the new A48 ‘Forage
roundabout junction,’ in accordance with all appropriate guidelines and legislation, and
that the junction is safe for its intended purpose. Any initial road safety issues have been



appropriately identified and considered and, where necessary, resolved through the RSA
process explained above. It is also considered that there is a series of suitable design
highway sighage to warn of the approaching roundabout junction and assist in necessary
speed reduction.

Therefore, given the evidence presented above, the Council would dispute that the
‘Forage roundabout junction’ is either dangerous or, unless changes are made to make
users aware of the junction and to slow down drivers, more deaths may occur,
Furthermore, the Council considers the advanced warning signage to be good and that
the junction is safe for all traffic if drivers exercise responsible driving practices and take
due care and attention of the provided signage and road markings, as well as comply with
their legal obligations and follow the ‘General rules, techniques and advice for all drivers
and riders’ (Rule 103 to 158) of the Highway Code.

Notwithstanding the information above, the Council recognises the need to consider
appropriate ways to enhance road safety on its existing local highway network and, where
possible, measures should be implemented to best avoid any deaths or collisions
involving serious personal injury. Therefore, subsequent to the fatality on the 29"
September, the Council took steps to publish a Legal Order (TRQ) with the intention of
reducing the speed limit on the A48 Cowbridge bypass from National speed limit to
50mph, and the immediate approaches to the ‘Forage roundabout junction’ to 30mph.
Whilst the Crder has completed the appropriate legal process, the necessary new signage
in accordance with TSRGD and Traffic Signs Manual is estimated to cost over £100k to
implement the new speed restriction along the A48, and this work is therefore subject to
identifying available budget. The proposed signage will also include lane designation
signage on approach to the roundabout to compliment the reduction in speed limit.

| hope the above adequately responds to and satisfies the requirements of the Regulation
28 report and clarifies the Council’s position regarding the safety of the A48 ‘Forage
roundabout junction’.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive
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